RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 06-20-2019 IN COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT II CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS CASE NO. 2018AP2319-CQF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

V.

MANUEL GARCIA,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF RACINE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE MICHAEL PIONTEK, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Russell D. Bohach State Bar No. 01016627 4284 Raymir Place Wauwatosa, Wisconsin 53222 (414) 429-9197 Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUE

I. DID THE TRIAL COURT COMMIT ERROR WHEN IT ALLOWED THE USE OF MANUEL GARCIA'S STATEMENT TO THE POLICE TO BE USED BY THE PROSECUTION DURING THEIR CASE IN CHIEF?

ANSWERED BY TRIAL COURT: NO

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

There is no need for oral argument in this matter as the issue involves the application of well settled law.

Publication is not necessary because this case involves the application of well settled law to facts that are unique to this matter.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal results from a jury trial and sentencing which occurred in the Circuit Court of Racine County the

Honorable Michael Piontek presiding. Manuel Garcia was arrested on March 12, 2010 concerning a First Degree Reckless Homicide that occurred on that same date in the City and County of Racine State of Wisconsin. A complaint was filed on March 15, 2010 alleging First Degree Reckless Homicide. A Preliminary Hearing was held on April 1, 2010 and the defendant waived his preliminary hearing. An arraignment was held on that same date, and a not guilty plea was entered.

Between April 1, 2010, and September 8, 2014, numerous court proceedings were held but most importantly the court heard a motion to suppress the defendant's statement given to police on the date of the alleged homicide.

Judge Wayne Marik, heard testimony concerning the suppression issue beginning on August 22, 2011, and concluding with his ruling on January 11, 2013. That issue was revisited by Judge Michael Pionetk prior to trial, and following the court's decision, the trial in this matter began on September 8, 2014. The trial concluded on September 11, 2014 and on that date the jury found the defendant guilty of First Degree Reckless Homicide as charged in the information.

Sentencing was held on November 7, 2014 to a total term of 50 years in the Wisconsin State Prison system, with 40 years of Initial Confinement and 10 years of Extended Supervision. Post-Conviction motions were filed by the

defendant on March 28, 2018, and those Post-Conviction motions were denied by the court by order of September 20, 2018. A Notice of Appeal was filed on December 3, 2018.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

J.E.M., the minor child with the date of birth of 1/22/08, was the victim of a homicide on or about March 12, 2010 in the City and County of Racine, State of Wisconsin. (1-2). It was alleged that the defendant struck the victim a number of times in and around the stomach and back area resulting in perforated intestines, lacerated liver, pancreas, and broken ribs. It was also established that the child died of those injuries, and the cause of death was ruled homicide by physical abuse of a child. (1-2).

Shortly after the child's death, members of the Racine Police Department interviewed a number of individuals, including Manuel Garcia. Appendix 103-140. During the questioning of Manual Garcia, he admitted that he punched the child in the side and the back, and that eventually he threw child on the bed and the child struck the wall. Appendix 103-140. The mother testified to the child's date of birth, and indicated that the defendant had dropped the child off with the mother in the evening because the child was not feeling well. (77; 60-64). The mother testified that while trying to feed the child the child stopped breathing and that the

child was turning blue. (77; 60-64). The defendant and the mother drove to the hospital and eventually the child died at the hospital. (77-67).

Manual Garcia gave a statement to the police discussing various alternative theories with respect to the child's injuries, but eventually gave a statement in which he admitted punching the child and throwing the child onto a mattress.

The statement was the subject of extensive litigation including a Motion to Suppress which was originally heard by Judge Wayne Marik. The court took testimony on several occasions, and ultimately on January 11, 2013, the court issued a ruling that concluded that Mr. Garcia did not knowingly or intelligently waive his Miranda rights and for that reason the state was barred from using that statement as part of its Case in Chief. (59; 1-39).

Prior to the trial, the judge assigned to the case changed, and ultimately the Honorable Michael Piontek was the presiding judge over this matter. Judge Piontek revisited Judge Marik's ruling in a series of court appearances, and ultimately on September 8, 2014 Judge Piontek reaffirmed Judge Marik's rulings suppressing Mr. Garcia's statement as part of the State's Case in Chief. (76; 1-30). The court also determined that should a defense expert, Dr. Shuman

testify, the state would be allowed to utilize Mr. Garcia's statement as part of its cross-examination of the expert.

(76; 1-35). Based upon the court's ruling the defense did not call Dr. Shuman as a witness.

During the trial, defense counsel cross-examined

Detective Brad Spiegelhoff. (77; 142-192). Following

the cross examination, the state moved the court for an order

allowing the state to utilize Mr. Garcia's statement as part

of its case in chief based upon the cross-examination of

Detective Spiegelhoff. (77; 182-184).

Following the review of transcripts and arguments by counsel the court reversed its prior ruling and the ruling made by Judge Marik, and allowed the state to utilize Mr. Garcia's statement as part of its case in chief. The state did utilize the statement that Mr. Garcia made to detectives, in which he admitted punching and throwing the victim. (78; 1-30, 40-45).

On September 11, 2014, the jury returned a verdict of guilty against Manuel Garcia with respect to the charged offense. (32-1).

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR WHEN IT
ALLOWED THE USE OF MANUEL GARCIA'S STATEMENT TO THE
POLICE TO BE USED BY THE PROSECUTION DURING THEIR CASE
IN CHIEF.

Manuel Garcia gave a statement to members of the Racine Police Department on March 12, 2010 in which he admitted striking the victim several times. That statement was tantamount to an admission given the inter-relationship between Mr. Garcia's statement, and the findings of the autopsy and subsequent testimony of the doctors. That statement was also the subject of extensive litigation which took place over a period of four years and was ruled upon by two different Circuit Court judges. 1-39, 75; 1-35). The statement was ruled inadmissible by both Judge Wayne Marik and Judge Michael Piontek based upon the finding that the defendant did knowingly and voluntarily waive his Miranda rights on the date in question, based upon his inability to understand English. (59-34; 76; 1-30). Both judges restricted this ruling to the use of the statement during the state's Case in Chief. Judge Piontek also determined that should the defense call an expert pathologist, the state would be allowed to utilize Mr. Garcia's statement as part of its crossexamination of the defense expert. (76; 1-35). It was also assumed that should Mr. Garcia decide to testify during the defense portion of the case, that the state would be able to utilize the statement as part of its cross- examination or as part of its rebuttal. Beyond those parameters, Judge Piontek did not place any other restrictions on the defense nor did the judge outline any other scenarios in which the state would be allowed

to utilize the statement.

The state called Detective Brad Spiegelhoff as a witness during its case in chief. Detective Spiegelhoff conducted a significant portion of the investigation into the death of the victim in this matter, and also was the individual who took the aforementioned statement made by Mr. Garcia on March 12, 2010.

Following Detective Spiegelhoff's direct testimony, defense counsel cross-examined Detective Spiegelhoff regarding various aspects of his investigation. Based on certain questions asked by defense counsel, the state again moved the court to allow it to utilize Mr. Garcia's statement as part of its case in chief. The state argued that somehow the defense inquiry into various aspects of the investigation opened the door by questioning the credibility of Detective Spiegelhoff.

The court reviewed the questioning by defense counsel and ultimately ruled that it would be manifestly unfair to the state to have the jury hear about Detective Spiegelhoff's investigation and/or lack of investigation, without the state being able to present its theory of why the Detective did not complete certain portions of the investigation. It was the state's theory that once Detective Spiegelhoff had an admission from Mr. Garcia the police stopped investigating other potential causes of death. The judge found that this area of questioning allowed the state to utilize the defendant's previously suppressed statement as

part of the case in chief. The suppression of the statement was litigated and decided based upon the applicable law. It is the position of Garcia that Judge Piontek committed error when he determined that the simple act of cross-examining of the state's witness somehow resulted in a situation where a previously suppressed statement could now be utilized.

Mr. Garcia concedes that the question of whether the court committed error turns upon the court's interpretation of the cross-examination of Detective Spiegelhoff by defense counsel. This is mainly a review of whether there existed sufficient facts from which the court could have determined that defense counsel's questioning was so egregious so as to deprive Mr. Garcia of his Constitutional right.

The appellate courts determined the appropriate standard of review on numerous occasions. The courts have essentially utilized three standards of review depending upon the nature of the inquiry to be made. Those standards of review are:

[&]quot;(1) a review in court will not overturn findings of fact unless clearly erroneous. (2) a review in court will sustain a discretionary decision that is the product of a rational mental process by which the facts of record and law relied upon or stated and considered together for the purpose of achieving a reasoned and reasonable determination. (3) a review in court will decide questions of law independently of the Circuit Court but benefitting from its analysis." State v. Brown, 2005 WI 29 Sec. 7

In this case it is argued that the appropriate standard is a combination of (1) and (2) outlined above. Brown supra@ Sec. 7.

This is essentially a factual finding made by the trial court.

It is the position of Mr. Garcia that the court's determination that the cross-examination allowed for the reversal of a previously suppressed statement, was clearly erroneous. In addition, the court's reasoning was not outlined sufficiently so that the Appellate Court could determine that it was a product of a rational mental process utilizing facts of record and law.

The right against self-incrimination is one of the most valuable and fundamental rights afforded an individual who has been arrested and accused of a crime. The question of whether an incriminating statement made by a defendant should be admitted involves the determination of whether an individual knowingly and with full understanding waived his right against self-incrimination. In this case the admissibility determination centered around a determination as to whether the defendant knowingly and intelligently waived his Miranda rights. Miranda v. Arizona, 86 SCt 1602 (1996), State v. Lee, 175 Wis. 2nd 348 (1993). The state bears the burden to demonstrate that Mr. Garcia knowingly and intelligently waived his privilege against self-incrimination and his right to counsel. Miranda supra. Judge Wayne J. Marik held an extensive motion hearing on the issue of whether Mr. Garcia waived his Miranda rights prior to the

Department in which he admitted his role in the death of the victim in this matter. At the conclusion of testimony and argument which included briefing and research, Judge Marik succinctly found that the statement that the defendant gave to members of the Racine Police Department could not be used as part of the state's case in chief. Judge Marik stated,

"based upon the application of that objective standard, the court does conclude that the prima fascia showing of a valid waiver has been rebutted on this record. And it further concludes that Mr. Garcia did not understandingly, knowingly or intelligently waive his Miranda rights on the date in question. For that reason, the motion of the state to use his custodial statement as evidence has part of its case in chief would be and is denied at this time." (59-34)

Judge Marik's ruling was revisited by Judge Michael Piontek and Judge Marik's ruling was reaffirmed. (76; 1-30). Judge Piontek did carve out one exception to the rulings suppressing Mr. Garcia's incriminating statement. Judge Piontek indicated that should the defense call any expert in the field of pathology, then the state could utilize Mr. Garcia's statement to cross-examine that expert. Judge Piontek did not carve out an exception which would prohibit the defense from cross-examining any of the prosecution witnesses. Judge Piontek did not carve out an exception prohibiting the defense from presenting a competent defense by way of witnesses (other

than a pathologist), and effective cross-examination of the state's witnesses.

The trial proceeded, and defense counsel cross-examined the lead investigator, Detective Brad Spiegelhoff. The crossexamination was straight forward and sought to illicit from Detective Spiegelhoff the various areas of inquiry that Racine Police Department made into the death of the victim in this The cross-examination ellicted testimony regarding matter. several areas of investigative inquiry which were not made by the Racine Police Department. The mere fact that someone confessed to a crime, does not and should not cease all investigation into potential other areas of inquiry regarding the commission of the crime. Detective Spiegelhoff was prohibited from answering the defense questions by stating that Mr. Garcia had confessed. However, that is part of the penalty the state paid by not assuring what Mr. Garcia knowingly and intelligently waived his Miranda warnings before they began to question him without counsel.

The defense was not prohibited from cross-examining any of the state's witnesses by either Judge Marik's or Judge Piontek's original rulings. The cross-examination by defense counsel did not nibble around the edges of Mr. Garcia's statement but rather specifically asked the detective whether certain facts made known to the Racine Police Department were

looked at as part of their homicide investigation. Judge Piontek in his second ruling on September 10, 2014 recited several of the areas of cross-examination that somehow troubled him. (78; 4-11). The court recognized that the cross-examination was completely proper. (78-10).

Judge Piontek then somehow felt that the proper crossexamination done by defense counsel created a situation in
which Mr. Garcia's right to not incriminate himself without
a knowing and voluntary waiver of his Miranda rights could be
stripped away. His reasoning was that somehow the state should
have an ability to explain the lack of collateral investigation
by the Racine Police Department. The penalty the state paid due
to the suppression of Mr. Garcia's statement was exactly that
they were prohibited from explaining away the lack of
collateral investigation done by the Racine Police Department.
Pointing out to the jury that lack of investigation does not
create a situation in which a valuable Constitutional right can
be waived and rulings by the Judge Pionteck were made without
a good basis in fact or law.

Judge Piontek then inexplicitly began to re-evaluate whether the defendant had knowingly and intelligently waived his Miranda rights. Judge Piontek went through the custodial interrogation and the precursor to that interrogation, Mr. Garcia's waiver of his Miranda rights. The facts surrounding

Mr. Garcia's lack of understanding with respect to the waiver of his Miranda rights did not change merely because certain questions were asked. Judge Piontek did not provide a complete and thorough analysis of why the cross-examination questions somehow changed the facts that surrounded the original improper waiver of Mr. Garcia's Miranda rights. The court also did not articulate on the record why the questions asked by defense counsel were so egregious as to require that a well reasoned ruling by Judge Marik needed to be overturned.

Judge Piontek did not address the defendant's lack of understanding with respect to the waiver of his Miranda rights. Judge Piontek's ruling does not explain why the cross-examination questions which were not prohibited by any prior court ruling, somehow required the court to allow the use of the statement which had been ellicted by improper police tactics. Judge Piontek's rationale was as follows:

"apparently Judge Marik had trouble with his, you know, his English comprehension and made the ruling that he did which, you know, is -- the ruling in this case.

So applying those facts, that is, the questions asked by Mr. Saldana which are totally appropriate in proper cross-examination and subject to proper argument at the time the jury hears the closing arguments of counsel, considering the impression that the jury would receive from those questions and that argument, I find that the defense has made a strategic decision on how far it went in cross-examination — and that's totally appropriate — that is how to handle various witnesses.

But too - - from a fundamental fairness perspective to not allow the jury, and they are the fact finders, to hear Inspector Spiegelhoff's reasoning or rationale behind his decision to not investigate further would cause the jury to be mislead period.

I believe it would be manifestly unfair to have the jury hear just that side of it and not allow the investigator, because of Judge Marik's ruling, to explain it. This did not have to be an issue in controversy. There are other avenues, strategic avenues, that could be explored.

You know, but it offends me that a jury would be mislead in to believing that somehow the investigator did not do his job when that is really at the behest of the defense to not allow him to explain why he took the actions he did." (78; 21-22).

The sum total of Judge Piontek's argument is that he did not like the fact that the state could not utilize Mr. Garcia's statement and in the end found a way to allow that statement to be presented to the jury.

Judge Piontek's decision is not supported by the facts as shown by the cross-examination of Detective Spiegelhoff or the law that creates a penalty for the state when the police improperly interrogate an individual. The right against self incrimination is a Constitutional right. In order for an individual to incriminate themself they must make a knowing and voluntary determination to waive their right against self-incrimination. Judge Marik's spent a tremendous amount of time determining the issues surrounding the statement Mr. Garcia made to the members of the Racine Police Department. He determined that Mr. Garcia did not knowingly and intelligently

waive his Miranda rights. Judge Piontek upheld that ruling, and put one constriction on the defense. Judge Piontek did not put any other constrictions on defense counsel's ability to properly cross-examine witnesses. The cross-examination conducted by counsel did not call into question the investigative techniques by the Racine Police Department, but rather made an inquiry as to whether the detective investigated all possible causes and manners of death. Even in a situation where the confession has been procured, the lead investigator should explore all avenues that the evidence leads to in order to determine that an injustice does not occur. The proper cross-examination of the state's witnesses should not and can not be the basis to overturn a well reasoned decision suppressing an individual's statement which was gathered without a proper waiver of their Miranda rights. The court's determination to allow a confession to be heard by a jury after that confession was suppressed, was erroneous and not supported by the facts in this case. The defendant's statement to police should have remained suppressed, and the failure to do so constituted reversible error. Based upon that error, Mr. Garcia requests that the Judgment of Conviction in this matter be vacated, and the matter remanded for a new trial.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the argument set forth above, it is respectfully requested that the Court of Appeals vacate the Judgment of Conviction in this matter, reverse the jury's verdict as a matter of law, and remand the matter to the Circuit Court of Racine County for proceedings consistent with the court's ruling.