**RECEIVED** 03-31-2021 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT** 

#### SUPREME COURT STATE OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2018AP002319 CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner,

v.

MANUEL GARCIA,

Defendant-Appellant.

Appeal from a Final Judgment of the Circuit Court of Racine County, the Hon. Michael Piontek Presiding, Circuit Court Case No. 2010CF000365

Reversed by the Court of Appeals of Wisconsin, Dist. II, in a published decision, 2020 WI App 71

#### RESPONSE BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT MANUEL **GARCIA**

Sean O'D. Bosack, SBN 1029661 Emma Jewell, SBN 1104663 Attorneys for Defendant-Appellant, Manuel Garcia

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

The State now argues that the Court of Appeals applied the wrong "theory" to the case by considering *Harris* and its progeny, when it should have based its decision on a so-called "opening the door" theory. For the reasons set forth herein, the State's argument

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> 143 Wis. 2d 297, 421 N.W.2d 96 (1988).

is not just devoid of precedent, but it is also contrary to the constitutional values promoted by the exclusion of unconstitutionally obtained evidence. This Court must affirm.

I. No established exception to the *Miranda* exclusionary rule permits the use of a criminal defendant's unconstitutionally obtained, properly excluded statements in the State's case-in-chief.

Statements obtained in violation of *Miranda* are generally inadmissible at trial. *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436, 479 (1966). *See Michigan v. Harvey*, 494 U.S. 344, 351 (1990) ("[t]he prosecution must not be allowed to build its case against a criminal defendant with evidence acquired in contravention of constitutional guarantees and their corresponding judicially created protections"). *Miranda* counsels that the exclusion of unconstitutionally obtained statements is essential to the Fifth Amendment's protection against compelled self-incrimination.<sup>5</sup> *See Miranda*, 384 U.S. at 476.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution states, in relevant part, "[n]o person shall be. . . compelled in any criminal case to be a witness against himself...". U.S. Const. Amend. V. *See also Malloy v. Hogan*, 378 U.S. 1, 6 (1964)

Although adherence to the dictates of *Miranda* may occasionally result in the exclusion of highly probative evidence from trial, these evidentiary concerns are overridden by a greater concern for protecting the constitutional rights of the defendant. *James v. Illinois*, 493 U.S. 307, 311 (1990) ("[t]he occasional suppression of illegally obtained yet probative evidence has long been considered a necessary cost of preserving overriding constitutional values").

Therefore, voluntary statements obtained in violation of *Miranda* are categorically inadmissible during the prosecution's case-in-chief, or otherwise as substantive evidence of guilt.<sup>6</sup> *United States v. Havens*, 446 U.S. 620, 628 (1980). *See also James v. Illinois*, 493 U.S.

\_

<sup>(&</sup>quot;[w]e hold today that the Fifth Amendment's exception from compulsory self-incrimination is also protected by the Fourteenth Amendment against abridgment by the States"). In addition, the Wisconsin Constitution, Article I, Section 8(1), states, "[n]o person... may be compelled in any criminal case to be a witness against himself or herself."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Involuntary statements obtained in violation of *Miranda* are inadmissible at trial for any purpose. *State v. Franklin*, 228 Wis. 2d 408, 412, 596 N.W.2d 855 (Ct. App. 1999) (citing *State v. Moats*, 156 Wis. 2d 74, 93, 457 N.W.2d 299 (1990)).

307, 313 n. 3 (1990); *State v. Franklin*, 228 Wis. 2d 408, 412, 596 N.W.2d 855 (Ct. App. 1999). Even during the defendant's case, voluntary statements obtained in violation of *Miranda* are inadmissible, except for in one exceptional circumstance (which is not the case here).

It is against this backdrop—categorical exclusion of unconstitutionally obtained statements during the prosecution's case-in-chief and near categorical exclusion of them during the defendant's case—that the State comes before this Court asking it to bless the circuit court's admission of unconstitutionally obtained statements in its case-in-chief.

The State argues the admission of Mr. Garcia's statements was justified under, what it calls, a distinct "opening the door" exception to the *Miranda* exclusionary rule, triggered by Mr. Garcia's questions on cross-examination. The State's argument is incorrect because there is no exception to the *Miranda* exclusionary rule that permits

the introduction of unconstitutionally obtained statements in the State's case-in-chief. Moreover, creating such a vague exception to the exclusionary rule would destroy the constitutional values it is designed to protect.

A. Voluntary statements obtained in violation of Miranda may only be admitted in the defendant's case to impeach a defendant's conflicting testimony.

As already mentioned, the Supreme Court has recognized a narrow exception to the *Miranda* exclusionary rule that allows the prosecution to introduce a defendant's voluntary, but unconstitutionally obtained and excluded statements if—and only if—the defendant testifies at trial in a manner that conflicts with his excluded statements. *Harris*, 401 U.S. at 225-26.

This "impeachment exception" was first applied in *Walder v*. *United States*, in which the Court concluded that physical evidence, obtained in violation of the Fourth Amendment, could be introduced to impeach the defendant's credibility at trial after he testified in a manner that contradicted the excluded evidence. 347

U.S. 62, 66 (1954). In *Walder*, the Court found that the defendant's assertion on direct examination that he never possessed any narcotics "opened the door," solely for the purpose of impeaching his credibility, to the admission of physical evidence (there, heroin) unlawfully obtained in connection with an earlier proceeding. *Id.* at 64-65.

In *Harris v. New York*, the Court extended the *Walder* impeachment exception from physical evidence to statements obtained in violation of *Miranda*. 401 U.S. at 224-26. The defendant in *Harris* took the stand and testified in a manner that contradicted his inadmissible statements. *Id.* at 223. On cross-examination, the prosecution read the defendant's inadmissible statements aloud to the jury to impeach his credibility. *Id.* Following the questioning, the trial judge instructed the jury that the statements could only be considered in evaluating the defendant's credibility, not as substantive evidence of guilt. *Id.* 

The Supreme Court affirmed the trial court's decision to admit the statements, finding an exception to the Miranda exclusionary rule was justified because "[t]he shield provided by Miranda cannot be perverted into a license to use perjury by way of a defense...". Id. at 226. The Court reasoned that a criminal defendant is not compelled to take the stand, but if he chooses to testify, he is under an obligation to speak truthfully or risk the consequences of impeachment. See id. at 225. On balance, the Court found the value of admitting the statements (provided they are trustworthy) in furthering the truth-seeking function of a criminal trial, outweighed the "speculative possibility that impermissible police conduct [would] be encouraged thereby." See id. at 224-25. The Court concluded that "sufficient deterrence flows when the evidence in question is made unavailable to the prosecution in its case in chief." Id.

The Supreme Court has refused to expand the class of impeachable witnesses beyond the testifying defendant. *James*, 493 U.S. at 313. In *James*, the defendant did not testify, but called a witness whose testimony contradicted the defendant's previously suppressed, illegally obtained statements. *Id.* at 310. In response, the trial court permitted the prosecution to introduce the defendant's illegally obtained statements to impeach the defense witness's credibility. *Id.* The Illinois Supreme Court affirmed, reasoning that admission of the statements was proper to prevent the defendant from engaging in perjury "by proxy." *Id.* at 310-11.

The Supreme Court reversed, concluding that expanding the *Harris* exception would "frustrate rather than further the purposes underlying the exclusionary rule." *Id.* at 314. The Court explained that the rationales underlying the impeachment exception do not extend to other defense witnesses:

• First, the penalty function served by the impeachment exception – to punish a defendant who takes the stand

and commits perjury – cannot be extended to other defense witnesses because doing so would punish the defendant for the choices, or innocent mistakes, of other defense witnesses. *Id.* at 314-15.

- Second, the threat of impeachment would chill defendants from calling helpful witnesses out of fear that their testimony could lead to the introduction of previously excluded evidence. *Id.* at 316. The Court reasoned that just as defendants cannot use excluded evidence as a "shield for perjury," the State cannot "brandish such [excluded] evidence as a sword with which to dissuade defendants from presenting a meaningful defense through other witnesses." *Id.* at 317.
- Third, the Court said that expanding the impeachment exception would weaken the exclusionary rule's deterrent effect on police misconduct by enhancing the value of illegally obtained evidence and greatly increasing the opportunity to use such evidence. *Id.* at 317-18. The opportunity to use illegally obtained evidence would be increased because the number of defense witnesses easily outnumbers testifying defendants. Id. at 318. Additionally, mere access to illegally obtained evidence would benefit the prosecution because it could be used not just to deter perjured testimony, but to deter defendants from calling witnesses altogether. Id. Either way, law enforcement would recognize that obtaining evidence unconstitutionally "stacks the deck heavily in the prosecution's favor." Id. The Court concluded that excluding illegally obtained evidence from the

prosecution's case-in-chief would not go far enough to protect the interests underlying the exclusionary rule and thus, it held that such evidence may not be admitted to impeach other defense witnesses. See id. at 318-19.

As the foregoing shows, the Supreme Court's exception to the *Miranda* exclusionary rule is not only narrow, but it reflects a careful balance of competing values—a balance that Wisconsin courts have followed for decades. *See, e.g., State v. Mendoza,* 96 Wis. 2d 106, 118, 291 N.W.2d 478 (1980); *Wold v. State,* 57 Wis. 2d 344, 356, 204 N.W.2d 482 (1973). *See also Kuntz v. McCaughtry,* 806 F. Supp. 1373, 1380 (E.D. Wis. 1992).

The impeachment cases are the *only* cases recognizing an exception to the *Miranda* exclusionary rule that permits the introduction of a defendant's unconstitutionally obtained and previously suppressed statements at trial.

Moreover, although the United States Supreme Court has occasionally used the phrase "opened the door" (or its cognates) as a

means of defining the circumstances triggering the impeachment exception itself, see, e.g., James, 493 U.S. at 314 (explaining that the impeachment exception "leaves defendants free to testify . . . without opening the door to impeachment by carefully avoiding any statements that directly contradict the suppressed evidence") (emphasis added), neither it nor this Court has ever applied this socalled "opening the door" exception to allow the prosecution to use a defendant's unconstitutionally obtained, properly suppressed statements at trial in the prosecution's case-in-chief. Neither court has ever considered how such a broad, undefined exception could trigger the admission of unconstitutionally obtained statements in the prosecution's case-in-chief. The court of appeals appropriately recognized this and analyzed this case in light of the governing precedent.

Nevertheless, the State maintains that "opening the door" is (or at least should be) a distinct exception to the *Miranda* 

exclusionary rule that supports the admission of Mr. Garcia's statements in this case. Without articulating what "opening the door" means for purposes of admitting unconstitutionally obtained statements during the State's case-in-chief, the State cites a litany of cases addressing silence and argues that "opening the door" is analogous to "fair response," referring to the "fair response doctrine" enunciated by the Supreme Court in *United States v. Robinson*, 485 U.S. 25 (1988).

The cases cited by the State applying the "fair response" doctrine, however, are inapposite to the facts and circumstances in this case because none of them deal with unconstitutionally obtained statements, let alone permit their admission as a "fair response" to anything; nor do they grapple with the constitutional implications of creating or broadening exceptions to *Miranda* that justify admitting suppressed statements, as the impeachment cases do.

B. The fair response doctrine does not permit the admission of a defendant's previously excluded, unconstitutionally obtained statements.

The State's argument is premised on an impermissibly broad view of the rule articulated by the Supreme Court in *United States v.*Robinson, 485 U.S. 25 (1988). Robinson dealt solely with a prosecutor's ability to comment on a defendant's failure to testify at trial in response to "a claim made by defendant or his counsel." *Id.* at 32.

The case did not even address the admission of unconstitutionally obtained statements, much less create an exception to the unbending rule that such statements cannot be admitted during the prosecution's case-in-chief.

In *Robinson*, the defendant did not testify at trial, but defense counsel argued in closing that the Government had unfairly denied the defendant an opportunity to explain his actions. *See id.* at 27 & n.

2. The prosecutor objected, arguing that defense counsel's remarks "opened the door" to allow the prosecutor to comment on the defendant's decision not to testify. *Id.* at 28. The trial court agreed

with the prosecution, permitting a limited response in rebuttal, and instructing, "I will let you say that the defendants had every opportunity, if they wanted to, to explain this to the ladies and gentlemen of the jury." *Id.* Thus, the prosecutor argued in rebuttal, the defendant "could have taken the stand and explained it to you, anything he wanted to." *Id.* 

The Sixth Circuit reversed, finding that the prosecutor's comment on the defendant's decision not to testify deprived him of a fair trial under the Fifth Amendment, relying on *Griffin v*.

California, 380 U.S. 609 (1965).<sup>7</sup> Id. at 29.

The Supreme Court disagreed, however, clarifying that *Griffin* applies where a prosecutor "on his own initiative" asks the jury to draw an adverse inference from a defendant's silence. *Id.* at 32. By

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> In *Griffin*, the Supreme Court held that the Fifth Amendment forbids the prosecution from commenting on the accused's silence at trial and prohibits the court from instructing that such silence is evidence of guilt. *See Robinson*, 485 U.S. at 30.

Page 39 of 63

contrast, the Court explained that there is no violation of the Fifth Amendment privilege where, "as in this case the prosecutor's reference to the defendant's opportunity to testify is a fair response to a claim made by defendant or his counsel." *Id.* The Supreme Court was clear that *Griffin* would not "preclude a fair response by the prosecutor *in situations such as the present one.*" *Id.* at 34. (emphasis added).

In essence, *Robinson* creates a limited exception to *Griffin* that permits the prosecution to comment on a defendant's opportunity to testify at trial in response to a claim first made by the defendant that he did not have such an opportunity. As the State correctly points out, Wisconsin law is in accord. *See State v. Keith*, 216 Wis. 2d 61, 80, 573 N.W.2d 888 (Ct. App. 1997) (explaining the prosecution may give a "measured reply to defendant's calling attention to his own failure to testify") (quoting *State v. Edwardsen*, 146 Wis. 2d 198, 215, 430 N.W.2d 604 ( Ct. App. 1988)). *See also State v. Doss*, 2008 WI 93, ¶

81, 312 Wis. 2d 570, 754 N.W.2d 150 (recognizing that three factors must be present for a prosecutor's comments to violate the rule articulated in *Robinson*).8

Neither the *Robinson* fair response doctrine, nor the Wisconsin cases applying it, nor the three-factor *Doss* test are relevant to this case. All dealt with the prosecution's ability to comment on a defendant's failure to testify. None deal with the admission of unconstitutionally obtained statements. In this case, the State did not comment on Mr. Garcia's failure to testify in response to an argument made by him; the State admitted his unconstitutionally obtained statements in its case-in-chief to rehabilitate its witness.

Notwithstanding this fundamental distinction, the State places principal reliance on *State v. Brecht*, a case which, like *Robinson*,

\_

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